IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON BRICE LOONEY,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC05-159 L.C. No. 97-215-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DENYING APPELLANT'S AMENDED FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850/3.851 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF IN A CAPITAL CASE.

> Frank E. Sheffield, Esq. 906 Thomasville Road Tallahassee, FL 32302 Telephone: 850-577-6555 Facsimile: 850-222-6721 Fla. Bar. No. 144041 Attorney for Appellant, Jason Brice Looney

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Jason Brice Looney, was a defendant in the lower tribunal. He will be referred to as "the defendant" or "Looney." The State of Florida, plaintiff below, is the appellee. It will be referred to as "the state."

The post conviction record on appeal is in three bound volumes. Volume I contains Looney's complete Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851 motion for post-conviction relief and part of the state's response thereto. Volume II contains the remainder of the state's response, additional pleadings and the transcript of the first part of the hearing on the motion. Volume III contains the remainder of the transcript of the hearing on the post conviction motion, written closing arguments submitted by both Looney and the state, the trial court's order denying the motion and subsequent documents pertaining to this appeal.

The Clerk of the Circuit Court for Wakulla County, Florida has provided a page number for each page of the entire post conviction record on appeal in the bottom right-hand corner of each page. Thus, references to the record will be by a volume number and the letter "R" followed by an appropriate page number or numbers. References to the record on appeal in Looney's direct appeal of his judgments and death sentences will be by a

vi

volume number and the letters "OR" (for original record) followed by an appropriate page number or numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida from a final order (Vol. III, R. 553-565) rendered by the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Wakulla County, Florida, Honorable N. Sanders Sauls, Circuit Judge, presiding, denying Looney's motion for postconviction relief, as amended, filed per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851.

B. Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court final order denying Looney's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851 motion for post conviction relief, per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b), Florida Constitution; Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g).

C. Course of the Proceedings

On August 26, 1997, Guerry Wayne Hertz, Jason Brice Looney and Jimmy Dewayne Dempsey were indicted for the first-degree murders of Melanie King and Robin Keith Spears, committed on July 27, 1997 in Wakulla County, Florida. They were also indicted for burglary of a dwelling while armed, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling

and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (Vol. I, R. 49) The defense was notified that the state intended to seek the death penalty. (Vol. I, R. 49) After a series of pretrial motions was filed and disposed of, jury selection and the trial commenced on November 29, 1999, and concluded on December 9, 1999. (Vol. I, R. 49) The jury convicted Looney and co-defendant Hertz of the first degree murders of Melanie King and Robin Keith Spears,¹ burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. (Vol. I, R. 49) The penalty phase of the proceedings was held on December 9, 1999 (Vol. I, R. 49, 50) By a majority vote of 10-2, for each murder the jury recommended and advised that the death penalty be imposed against both defendants. (Vol. I, R. 50)

On February 18, 2000, the trial court, in concurrence with the jury's majority recommendation, prepared a sentencing order. (Vol. I, R. 50) As to Looney, the trial court found that the following aggravating factors had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) He stood convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person (aggravated battery in Volusia County, Florida); (2) the capital felonies were committed while Looney was engaged in the commission of a

¹ Dempsey pled guilty, testified against Hertz and Looney, and was sentenced to life in prison. (Vol. I, R. 51)

burglary, arson and robbery; (3) the capital felonies were committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody (the defendants discussed and determined that they would leave no witnesses); (4) the homicides were committed for financial or pecuniary gain (the court merged this aggravating factor with the capital felonies being committed during the course of a burglary, arson or robbery); (5) the murders were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (6) the murders were cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (Vol. I, R. 50) In mitigation, the trial court found (1) Looney was twenty years old at the time of the homicides, which was given only moderate weight; and (2) other non-statutory mitigation that included (a) Looney's difficult childhood, which was given significant weight; (b) Looney had no significant criminal history or no history of violence, and his good behavior since being incarcerated was given marginal weight; (c) he was remorseful, which was given moderate weight; (d) society would be adequately protected if he were to be given a life sentence without the possibility of parole, which was given little weight; and (e) a co-defendant, Dempsey, received a life sentence following a plea, which was given significant weight and substantially considered by the trial court. (Vol. I, R. 51)

A timely notice of appeal was filed. (Vol. I, R. 51)

Looney raised the following issues on direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida: (1) The trial court improperly excused for cause a venire member whose opposition to the death penalty did not prevent or substantially impair her ability to perform her obligations as a juror; (2) the details of the collateral crimes in Volusia County became a feature of the trial, causing prejudice that substantially outweighed the probative value of that evidence; (3) the trial court erred by admitting gruesome photographs of the bodies at the crime scene and the autopsy; (4) the trial court erred by refusing to grant a mistrial after a state witness testified about the hearsay statement by a non-testifying co-defendant that incriminated Looney; (5) the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to sustain the convictions; (6) the trial court erred in denying the defense motion to require a unanimous verdict during the penalty phase; (7) the statute authorizing the admission of victim impact evidence is an unconstitutional usurpation of the Supreme Court's rule-making authority under Article V, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution, making the admissibility of this evidence unconstitutional and reversible error; (8) four of the seven aggravating factors upon which the jury was instructed and which the trial court found, were legally inapplicable

and their consideration was not harmless error; and (9) the death sentences in this case were disproportionate. (Vol. I, R. 51, 52)

On November 1, 2001, the Supreme Court rejected the appeal and affirmed the convictions, judgments and sentences, including the death sentences. *Looney v. State*, 803 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 2001). On December 21, 2001, the mandate was issued.

On March 19, 2002, a petition for writ of certiorari was timely filed in the Supreme Court of the United States. (Vol. I, R. 52) It was docketed on March 20, 2002. The issue presented was whether *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) overruled certain Florida cases relative to the imposition of the death penalty. On June 28, 2002, the Supreme Court denied the petition. *Looney v. Florida*, 536 U.S. 966 (2002).

On June 30, 2003, a pleading styled "Motion to Vacate Judgment of Sentence of Death Which Sentence Has Been Affirmed On Direct Appeal" was filed with the lower tribunal, pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851. (Vol. I, R. 1) On September 15, 2003, the state filed a response. (Vol. I, R. 48)

After an initial Huff hearing² before the lower tribunal, Looney sought and was granted permission to file an amended motion for post

Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

conviction relief. (Vol. II, R. 269-272) The amended motion, styled "Amended Sworn Motion for Post Conviction Relief of Defendant, Jason Brice Looney," was filed on March 9, 2004. (Vol. II, R. 273) The state filed an amended response to the amended motion on April 1, 2004. (Vol. II, R. 295)

On July 28, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held with Judge Sauls presiding, on the single issue of whether there were mitigating statutory or non-statutory circumstances available to defense counsel at the time of trial that were not presented, and whether prejudice resulted. (Vol. II, R. 386). Dr. Bill Mosman, a forensic psychologist, testified for Looney. (Vol. II. R. 389-400; Vol. III, R. 401- 441) Gregory Cummings, Looney's trial counsel, testified for the state. (Vol. III, R. 442 - 471; Vol. III, R. 492-494) The state also called as a witness Dr. David J. Partyka, a licensed psychologist. (Vol. III, R. 472-491)

Counsel for the parties had previously agreed to submit written closing arguments with regard to the evidentiary hearing. The defendant submitted closing arguments on September 15, 2004. (Vol. III, R. 497-519) The state submitted a "Post-Hearing Memorandum and Closing Argument" on the same date. (Vol. III, R. 523-552)

D. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

On December 30, 2004, the lower tribunal issued a final order denying Looney's post conviction motion as amended. (Vol. III, R. 553-565) A notice of appeal to this Court was filed on January 27, 2005. (Vol. III, R. 566-567)

E. Statement of the Facts

i. Basic Facts Regarding the Guilt/Innocence Phase

The facts regarding the offense and trial were fully set out by this Court in the opinion arising from Looney's direct appeal. These facts are quoted verbatim from that opinion:

In the early morning hours of July 27, 1997, the charred bodies of Melanie King and Robin Keith Spears were found in the victims' burning home in Wakulla County, Florida. Looney, Guerry Hertz, and Jimmy Dempsey were each indicted for the first-degree murders of the victims, and each codefendant was also charged with burglary of a dwelling while armed, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony as a result of this incident. Prior to trial, codefendant Dempsey negotiated a plea with the State and was sentenced to consecutive life sentences in return for providing his testimony at Hertz and Looney's joint trial.

The evidence presented at the trial revealed the following facts. At approximately 11 p.m. on July 26, 1997, Looney and his codefendants left an acquaintance's house on foot within walking distance from the victims' home. All three men were armed with guns. A resident who lived about 500 yards from the victims testified that Hertz appeared at her door at about 2 a.m. asking to use her phone because "his truck had broken down." When she refused, the trio continued down the road towards the victims' home and, upon seeing the victims' black Mustang, Looney said, "There's my car right there. That's the one I want."

Dempsey and Hertz went to the victims' front door as a decoy and asked if they could use the phone. King provided them with a cordless phone, and Dempsey feigned making a phone call. When Dempsey attempted to return the phone, Hertz pointed his gun at King and forced his way in. Looney then entered and pointed his rifle at Spears. Spears and King were bound and gagged with duct tape and placed face down on their bed. Looney and his codefendants removed a significant amount of the victims' property, including a VCR, a television, jewelry, furniture, and CDs, and loaded the victims' belongings into the victims' two vehicles. Looney also found approximately \$1500 of the victims' money in an envelope, which was ultimately divided equally among the three.

Looney and Hertz concluded that they could leave no witnesses and informed Dempsey of their decision. Dempsey said Looney and Hertz then poured accelerants throughout the victims' home. All three men, still armed, went to the bedroom where the victims were bound, side-by-side, face down on their bed. When they entered the back bedroom, King said that she would "rather die being burnt up than shot." She stated, "Please, God, don't shoot me in the head." Hertz replied, "Sorry, can't do that," and then he proceeded to open fire; Looney followed and then Dempsey. The victims died as a result of the gunshot wounds.

Subsequent to the shootings, the victims' home was set ablaze. Looney drove away in the victims' white Ford Ranger, and Hertz drove the victims' black Ford Mustang, with Dempsey as a passenger. According to Dempsey, the whole episode at the victims' home lasted about two hours. The trio proceeded to Hertz's house and unloaded the stolen items and divided up the money. Two employees at the Wal-Mart in Tallahassee testified that the three men made purchases at the store at around 5 a.m. the morning of the murders, before "showing off" their new vehicles, i.e., a black Mustang and a white Ford Ranger, to both of the employees. A Wal-Mart receipt for a clothing purchase was later found in the victims' Mustang, corroborating the employees' testimony.

Looney and his codefendants made their way to Daytona Beach Shores where, later that day, they were involved in a pursuit and shoot-out with police. Looney and Dempsey were arrested after abandoning and fleeing from the victims' black Mustang. Hertz abandoned the victims' Ford Ranger after being shot, and he paid a cabdriver \$100 to drive him to his aunt's house in St. Augustine. Hertz was arrested that same day in St. Augustine, and victim Spears' .9 mm gun was recovered from Hertz's bag.

A firearms expert with FDLE testified that one of the bullets recovered from the area of the victims' burned bed was fired from the .380 Lorcin handgun recovered from Looney at the time of his arrest in Daytona Beach, i.e., the same handgun owned by Keith Spears and used, according to Dempsey, by Hertz to shoot the victims. The other bullet was fired from a .30 caliber carbine rifle, not inconsistent with .30 caliber rifle used by Looney to shoot the victims, and later recovered in the victims' Mustang. A roll of duct tape, Looney's wallet with \$464, and Dempsey's wallet with \$380 were also found in the Mustang. A fingerprint analyst with FDLE analyzed latent fingerprints taken from the Mustang and concluded that Looney and his codefendants had all touched the car. The chemist found evidence of various accelerants on items of clothing found in the Mustang. In addition, a law enforcement investigator with the State Fire Marshal's Office testified that the kind of damage that was done by the fire does not happen unless an accelerant is used.

The state medical examiner testified that the bodies were severely burned. He graphically detailed the condition of the bodies as depicted in the photographs: the legs were burned off below the knees, the hands were burned to nubs, the bones of the arms were fractured by the fire, and the skulls were burned partially away. The victims had to be positively identified by dental records. The medical examiner also testified that there could have been other injuries that were not detected due to the extensive burns.

King was shot at least two times in the head, which caused her death. However, the medical examiner was not able to trace the path of the bullet because the skull was burned away. He testified that it was possible that other bullets struck the body, which could not be determined because of the fire. King lived one to two minutes after she was shot. However, there was no soot in the trachea, indicating that she was not alive when the fire started. Spears was shot at least one time in the head, which caused his death. The bullet went in the back of the neck and exited above the right eye. Spears also lived one to two minutes after he was shot, and again, no soot was discovered in his trachea, meaning that he was dead at the time of the fire. The defense did not present any evidence.

A jury convicted both Looney and Hertz of the first-degree murders of King and Spears, burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm, armed robbery with a firearm, arson of a dwelling, and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. By a majority vote of ten to two, for each murder, the jury recommended and advised that the death penalty be imposed against Looney and Hertz. By written order, the judge imposed a sentence of death for each murder.

With respect to Looney, the trial court found as aggravating factors that (1) Looney was previously convicted a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person; (2) the capital felony was committed while Looney was engaged in the commission of a burglary, arson, and robbery; (3) the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; (4) the crime was committed for financial or pecuniary gain (the court merged this aggravating factor with the fact that the capital felony was committed during the course of a burglary, arson, or robbery); (5) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and (6) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

In mitigation, the trial court found (1) Looney's age of 20,

which was given only moderate weight; (2) as to all other nonstatutory mitigation, (a) Looney's difficult childhood was given significant weight; (b) the fact that Looney had no significant criminal history or no history of violence and the fact that he posed no problems since being incarcerated were given marginal weight; (c) that Looney was remorseful was given moderate weight; (d) the fact that society would be adequately protected if he were to be given a life sentence without the possibility of parole was entitled to little weight, and (e) the fact that a codefendant, Dempsey, received a life sentence following a plea, was given significant weight and substantially considered by the trial court.

Looney v. State, 803 So. 2d 656, 662-664 (Fla. 2001).

ii. Evidence Presented during the Penalty Phase

During the penalty phase, the state first called as a witness Reginald Byrd, a probation officer. He testified that Hertz was on felony probation at the time of the homicides, and already in violation status. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2212)

The state next called Karen King, Melanie King's mother. She prepared a written statement that was published to the jury. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2215) The statement portrayed Melanie as a strong and serious-minded person who was attending school to become a registered nurse. She was also working full-time. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2215-2216) Karen emphasized how much the family had looked forward to Melanie and Keith's marriage, and how many lives had been affected by her death. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2216-2217) The state then called Janet Spears, Keith Spears' mother. She also prepared a written statement that was published to the jury. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2218) Keith was their only son, and was the last Spears to carry on the family name. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2218) He was a hard worker in the family business, which would have been his eventually, and was an important asset to that business. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2219) She indicated how important he had been to the family and how much he would be missed. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2219)

The state rested.

The first witness called on Looney's behalf was Robert Kendrick, another probation officer for the Florida Department of Corrections. He testified that Looney was placed on probation in Leon County for forgery, uttering and grand theft. The probation period was for three years, commencing April 22, 1996. Kendrick had been supervising Looney for about a year. Looney was "pretty much" compliant with the terms of his probation during that period and was not in violation status until the time he was arrested for the instant crime. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2228) He was an average probationer. On cross-examination, Kendrick acknowledged that Looney was not authorized to carry a gun while on probation. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2227-2229)

The next witness called on Looney's behalf was Andrew Harris. He appeared dressed in "jailhouse orange," and testified that he was presently incarcerated and serving a sentence of twelve years for second-degree murder. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2230-2231) Harris had never met Looney but was in jail with Looney's co-defendant, Jimmy Dempsey, for about a year. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2231-2232) Dempsey told Harris that Looney was merely a lookout and did not say anything about him (Looney) shooting anyone. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2233) Harris added that Dempsey told him that he should have shot Looney because he "was the scariest one out of the bunch." (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2233) Dempsey also told Harris that, during the trip to Daytona Beach (after the homicides had been committed), Looney wanted to get out of the car. Dempsey said that he wasn't going to let Looney out, and that he (Dempsey) would shoot him if he tried to get out. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2233-2234) When the police in Daytona Beach stopped them, Dempsey was going to shoot it out with the police, but Looney told him to put the gun down. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2234) On cross-examination, Harris asserted that he was also incarcerated with Looney's co-defendant, Guerry Wayne Hertz, for a few months, and that they had also talked about the case. (Vol. XVIII, OR. 2230-2235)

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