IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON BRICE LOONEY,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC05-159

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Looney contends that he has met his burden and proved that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance when he failed to present all Mextant evidence of statutory and nonstatutory mitigation during the penalty phase@ and Mariled to use the services of a mental health expert@ which resulted in prejudice to him. These assertions were found to be unfounded by the trial court which concluded that, Marcounsel did conduct a reasonable investigation of mental health mitigation prior to trial and made a strategic and reasonable decision not to present this mitigation through a mental health expert. He did not fail to investigate potential mitigating evidence and he did not fail to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation.@ (Order dated December 30, 2005.) See: Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521 (2003).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS EFFECTIVEB-RE: FAILING TO PRESENT IN A CONVINCING MANNER ALL EXTANT STATUTORY AND NON-STATUTORY MITIGATION DURING THE PENALTY PHASE AND FAILING TO UTILIZE THE SERVICES OF A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT TO PRESENT THE MITIGATION.

Based on the trial record and evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing, Looney has failed to meet his burden under Strickland, or overcome the record evidence and has failed to present, even one iota of competent evidence to support allegations that more mitigation evidence could have been presented. Even Dr. Mosman=s Aexpertise@, the sole defense witness at the evidentiary hearing, could not Atease through mental health lens@ and identify any credible, non-cumulative mitigation.

Looney=s issue is broken down into several distinct sections, all entailing complaints that defense trial counsel could have done more to present mitigating evidence. Each viewed individually or collectively do not support a conclusion that a Strickland, violation occurred.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), provides that a defendant must 1) demonstrate deficient performance by counsel (the errors were so serious that counsel was not functioning as

counsel), and 2) demonstrate that such deficient performance resulted in prejudice (there was a reasonable probability that, but for counsels deficiencies, the results would be different).

Van Poyck v. State, 694 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1997); Kokal v. State,
718 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1998); Rutherford v. State, 727 So.2d 216,

(Fla. 1998); Cherry v. State 659 So.2d 1069, 1072-73 (Fla. 1998); Jones v. State, 732 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1999); Asay v. State,
769 So.2d 974, 978 (Fla. 2000); Hodges v. State, 885 So.2d 338,
347 (Fla. 2003), wherein the Court held:

The presentation of changed opinions and additional mitigating evidence in the postconviction proceeding does not, however, establish ineffective assistance of counsel. See Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 987 (Fla. 2000); Rutherford v. State, 727 So.2d 216, 224 (Fla. 1998). The pertinent inquiry remains whether counsel's efforts fell outside the "broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. " See Maxwell, 490 So.2d at 932. Upon review of the trial court's order and record, we conclude that Hodges' penalty phase counsel performed accordance with such standards. Our analysis of this turns the distinction between on after-the-fact analysis of the results of a reasonable investigation, and an investigation that is itself deficient. Only the latter gives rise to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

On July 28, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held for the limited purpose of determining whether counsel was ineffective for not presenting other mitigation that could have been presented, and would have impacted the jury=s verdict at sentencing, but was not investigated or explored by counsel.

Defense counsel, Mr. Gregory Cummings, an experienced capital litigator, was well aware of the background of his client. At the evidentiary hearing, he testified he was prepared and strategically presented mitigation from family and friends. He employed an investigator, Mr. Johnson and a mental health expert, Dr. Partyka to advise him and secure information in mitigation. Cummings made a strategic decision not to call his expert to testify, preferring to present mitigation through lay witnesses. See Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1048

Unlike Justice O=Connor observations in her special concurrence in Rompilla v. Beard, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 2005 U.S. LEXIS 4846, 73 U.S.L.W. 4522 (Decided June 20, 2005), Cummings acted well beyond the standards of reasonable professional judgment in accessing Looney=s mitigation and presenting same.

AI write separately to put to rest one concern. The dissent worries that the Court's opinion "imposes on defense counsel a rigid requirement to review all documents in what it calls the 'case file' of any prior conviction that the prosecution might rely on at trial." Post, at 1 (opinion of KENNEDY, J.). But the Court's opinion imposes no such rule. See ante, at 14. today's decision simply applies longstanding case-by-case approach to determining attorney's performance an unconstitutionally deficient under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Trial counsel's performance in Rompilla's case falls short under that standard, because the attorneys' behavior was not "reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id., at 688, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052. In particular, there were three circumstances which made the attorneys' failure to examine Rompilla's prior conviction file unreasonable.@

(Fla. 2000); Asay, 769 So.2d at 986 (no ineffective assistance of counsel in deciding against pursuing additional mental health mitigation after receiving an unfavorable diagnosis); State v. Sireci, 502 So.2d 1221, 1223 (Fla. 1987) (not ineffective assistance of counsel to rely on psychiatric evaluations that may have been less than complete); Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766 (Fla. 2004); see, Kimbrough v. State, 886 So.2d 965, 975-77 (Fla. 2004) (Dr. Mosman's testimony rejected where he found similar results as in the instant case.); See also Henry v. State, 862 So.2d 679 (Fla. 2003) (Dr. Mosman's testimony rejected because there was not substantial evidence to support his findings at the postconviction evidentiary hearing), and Ferrell v. State, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 1297, 30 Fla.L.Weekly S457 (Fla. June 16, 2005), wherein the Court held:

In the instant case, the record supports the trial court's conclusion that there was no particularized need for the SPECT scan. The postconviction experts independently determined that Ferrell suffered from the same injury, i.e., mild to moderate diffuse brain damage to the frontal lobe caused by chronic alcohol

In summary Justice O=Connor found that trial counsels failed to properly access Rompilla=s prior conviction which was likely to be at the heart of the state=s case for the death penalty; failed to appreciate that the state=s use of the prior conviction would Aeviscerate@ the defense=s primary mitigation argument; and inexplicably the decision by defense counsel not to get the prior conviction files, readily available to the defense, was not a result of any tactical decision, all justified the holding that counsel's performance did not meet standards of Areasonable professional judgment@.

abuse. While the scan would have confirmed the experts' diagnoses, it was not necessary in formulating their medical opinions about his brain damage. Further, Ferrell cannot show any prejudice from the trial court's denial of the SPECT scan. His experts were still able to testify that he had mild to moderate brain damage, which was consistent with the testimony presented at trial. The scan would not have provided any additional information about Ferrell's functional impairment than that presented. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying this request.

Ferrell's claim that to counsel rendered ineffective assistance in not requesting a SPECT scan in 1992, we agree with the trial court that he is not entitled to relief. Under the Strickland standard, Ferrell must prove both deficient performance by counsel and prejudice from this deficiency. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). There was no evidence that such scans were being ordered in capital cases in Florida in 1992. Thus, counsel's failure to obtain a scan was not deficient performance. In addition there is no reasonable probability that the presentation of a scan would have resulted in a different outcome here. The jury heard Dr. Upson's testimony and was aware of Ferrell's problems. The scan results could have confirmed Dr. Upson's diagnosis of brain damage but were not necessary in forming that diagnosis. Thus, Ferrell was not prejudiced by any alleged failure of counsel in this regard. Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's denial of postconviction relief on this claim.

Cummings was able to present evidence of Looney=s sad life, including the circumstances of his being removed from his biological family, living with his adopted family, learning about his grandfather=s suicide and other matters. Occhicone, 768 So.2d at 1048; Asay, 769 So.2d at 986 (no ineffective

assistance of counsel in deciding against pursuing additional mental health mitigation after receiving an unfavorable diagnosis); State v. Sireci, 502 So.2d at 1223. 10; Sochor v. State, 2004 Fla. LEXIS 985, 29 Fla.L.Weekly S363 (July 8, 2004).

Contrary to Looney=s assertion, Cummings was successful in convincing the trial court that one statutory mitigating factor (age of 20) was applicable as well as five (5) non-statutory factors, to which the Court gave Asignificant weight@. Looney v. State, 803 So.2d at 658.

Cummings emphasized to the jury that Looney was no worse than Dempsey who received a life sentence and that they should

Even assuming arguendo, that there was some deficient performance herein, no prejudice has been shown. There is simply no basis to support a prejudice finding based on the postulations of Dr. Mosman as to other mitigation which could have been presented. In fact most of what Dr. Mosman offered as additional mitigation was presented. See Maxwell, 490 So.2d at 932.

The jury recommended a death sentence by a ten-to-two majority, and the trial court found that the State had established six serious aggravators. Even with postconviction allegations regarding Looney=s mental verses physical age, the admission of that evidence Awould not@ have led a life recommendation. See Asay, 769 So.2d at (determining that there was no reasonable probability that evidence of the defendant's abusive childhood and history of substance abuse would have led to a recommendation of life where the State had established three aggravating factors, including CCP); see also Breedlove v. State, 692 So.2d 874, 878 (Fla. Moreover Dr. Mosman presented no other mitigation that would have been found.

all be treated the same. It was very sad to hear about the murders of Keith Spears and Melanie King and to hear their mothers express pain and loss, but it was also important to remember Looney=s sad life.

Defense counsel provided the jury with a complete portrait of Looney, allowing the jury to consider an unlimited array of factors in determining the sentence to recommend. Looney-s biological mother and grandmother detailed the living conditions that Looney faced as a baby and there was evidence of the over-restrictive living conditions he suffered in the Looney home. The jury knew that Mrs. Looney told Looney, who was 16, he was adopted, that his real grandfather had raped him as a baby and committed suicide years later. Finally at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, Looney-s mother testified and other friends detailed what a wonderful person Looney was to them. Looney personally

Susan Podgers, Looney=s real mother asked that he be given life, since she had just reunited with him and she wanted a chance with her son. (RIV 489-492).

Looney presented the testimony of Alice Jayne West. Looney was a big brother to her son. Looney took care of her in 1988, when she was infected with the HIV virus. Looney was kindhearted, loving, trustworthy and not a violent person. (RIV 487). Likewise, Gladys Christine Hinton, Ms. West=s mother confirmed Looney=s good character, stating that he was not a hard-core criminal and did not deserve the death penalty. (RIV 488).

testified before the Court, asking for forgiveness, stating he was sorry for what happened, and that he would give up his life if he could bring them back. (RIV 497-499).

The record is replete with evidence that Cummings provided effective assistance of counsel, he investigated, had the assistance of both an investigator and a mental health expert, discussed his strategy regarding the use of Dr. Partyka, with the doctor, professional colleagues and the defendant. Cummings tried to secure as much information about Looney as possible and was thwarted by Mrs. Looneys unwillingness to assist him with any information during the 16 years Looney lived with the Looneys.

Unlike the scenario portrayed in <u>Wiggins v. Smith</u>, 539 U.S. 510, 521-523 (2003), Cummings did the necessary investigation to support his strategy and present mitigation.

We established the legal principles that govern claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense. Id., at 687, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct 2052. To establish deficient performance, a petitioner must demonstrate that counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id., at 688, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct 2052. have declined to articulate We specific appropriate attorney conduct quidelines for instead have emphasized that "the proper measure of

attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Ibid*.

In this case, as in Strickland, petitioner's claim stems from counsel's decision to limit the scope of investigation into potential mitigating evidence. Id., at 673, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct 2052. Here, as in Strickland, counsel attempt to justify their limited investigation as reflecting a tactical judgment not to present mitigating evidence sentencing and to pursue an alternate strategy instead. In rejecting Strickland's claim, we defined the deference owed such strategic judgments in terms of the adequacy of the investigations supporting those judgments:

"Strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation. In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary. In ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." Id., at 690-691, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct 2052.

Our opinion in <u>Williams v. Taylor</u> is illustrative of the proper application of these standards. In finding Williams' ineffectiveness claim meritorious, we applied <u>Strickland</u> and concluded that counsel's failure to uncover and present voluminous mitigating evidence at sentencing could not be justified as a tactical decision to focus on Williams' voluntary confessions, because counsel had not "fulfilled their obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant's background." 529 U.S., at 396 (citing 1

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